



DUFFERIN COUNTY COUNCIL MINUTES

Thursday, June 10, 2021 at 2:00 p.m.

Video Conference

Council Members Present:

Warden Darren White (Melancthon)
Councillor Sandy Brown (Orangeville)
Councillor John Creelman (Mono)
Councillor Guy Gardhouse (East Garafraxa)
Councillor Chris Gerrits (Amaranth)
Councillor Janet Horner (Mulmur)
Councillor Andy Macintosh (Orangeville)
Councillor Laura Ryan (Mono)

Council Members Absent:

Councillor Steve Anderson (Shelburne)
Councillor Bob Currie (Amaranth) (prior notice)
Councillor Earl Hawkins (Mulmur) (prior notice)
Councillor Wade Mills (Shelburne) (prior notice)
Councillor Philip Rentsch (Grand Valley) (prior notice)
Councillor Steve Soloman (Grand Valley) (prior notice)

Staff Present:

Sonya Pritchard, Chief Administrative Officer
Michelle Dunne, Clerk
Rebecca Whelan, Deputy Clerk
Scott Burns, Director of Public Works/County Engineer
Cheri French, Director of Human Resources
Anna McGregor, Director of Community Services
Aimee Raves, Manager of Corporate Finance/Treasurer
Tom Reid, Chief, Paramedic Services
Brenda Wagner, Administrator of Dufferin Oaks

Warden White called the meeting to order at 2:02 p.m.

Warden White announced that the meeting is being live streamed and publicly broadcast. The recording of this meeting will also be available on our website in the future.

Upcoming committee meetings will be held by video conference on Thursday, June 24, 2021 at the following times:

Infrastructure & Environmental Services Committee – 9:00 a.m.

General Government Services Committee – 11:00 a.m.

Health & Human Services Committee – 1:00 p.m.

Community Development & Tourism Committee – 3:00 p.m.

1. **LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT STATEMENT**

Warden White shared the Land Acknowledgement Statement.

2. **ROLL CALL**

The Clerk verbally took a roll call of the Councillors in attendance.

Warden White gave the following statement:

“Today, right now, this period in time is a crossroads for us. It’s time for us to determine our direction for the future. Do we let hate take hold, or do we stand for something better? What type of country do we want to live in? One of hate, or one of peace?”

Leadership starts with us. We have the ability to set a course to a better way through our actions. It’s not an easy task, but it is a necessary one, and one we can do.

We must continually strive to re-commit ourselves to the tenants of Diversity Equity and Inclusion in all that we do. Whether we are talking about issues of a planning nature, for example the Cayuga Snipe Chief’s announcement of a moratorium on development in the Haldimand deed lands, or about the 215 innocent children who were found at a residential school site in Kamloops. There is no room for contradiction in our policy or our direction. We can’t demand righteousness on one hand while stonewalling on the other.

There is a learning curve here. A steep one in some respects and one that some will struggle with more than others. I know there has been much to learn from my perspective and I know that there is still so much that is still to come. I suspect many of you feel the same. While the onus is on us to actively participate in that learning, it’s so important that we realize what we really need to do more of is listen.

If we as leaders cannot commit at the very least to this, perhaps we should consider if we deserve to hold the seats we have at all.

It’s time for us to speak up, so that Ignorance is not the loudest voice of all.

To my Muslim Brothers and Sisters, I offer this:

We were all so very saddened to learn of the Terrorist act in London that took the life of four members of a family and left a 9 year old boy injured.

We mourn with you and share in your grief, and can only hope that we can help soothe some of your pain.

Please know that for every one person who would strike out in anger and hate, those who stand with you in peace and love and understanding number in the hundreds

Please don't despair, together we are better than the hatred of one."

3. **APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA**

Moved by Councillor Gerrits, seconded by Councillor Ryan

THAT the Agenda and any Addendum distributed for the June 10, 2021 meeting of Council, be approved.

-Carried-

4. **DECLARATION OF INTEREST BY MEMBERS**

Members of Council are required to state any pecuniary interest in accordance with the Municipal Conflict of Interest Act.

5. **APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING**

Moved by Councillor Horner, seconded by Councillor Creelman

THAT the minutes of the regular meeting of Council of May 13, 2021, be adopted.

-Carried-

PROCLAMATIONS, DELEGATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS

6. **Presentation: Wellington Dufferin Guelph Public Health Update**

Dr. Nicola Mercer, Medical Officer of Health from Wellington Dufferin Guelph Public Health, gave a presentation to Council regarding the Covid-19 Roadmap to

Reopen and provided some updates regarding vaccinations. Wellington Dufferin Guelph Public Health is reporting we are currently at 71.2% (176,474 residents) with at least one dose and 8% (19,734 residents) that are fully vaccinated. We are on track to reach the 75% target by the week of June 21.

7. **Proclamation: Indigenous History Month – June 2021**

Warden White proclaimed the month of June, 2021 to be Indigenous History Month in the County of Dufferin.

8. **Proclamation: Seniors Month – June 2021**

Warden White proclaimed the month of June, 2021 to be Seniors Month in the County of Dufferin.

9. **PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD**

Josh MacEwen submitted the following question to Council:

“The question pertains to the motion on beginning communications with the Haudenosaunee Confederacy regarding the moratorium on development along the Haldimand Tract, passed at the Community Development and Tourism Committee on May 27, 2021.

Will inquiries be made about whether development is currently taking place, or soon slated to start, in Dufferin County on land within the Haldimand Tract? If there is development transpiring or planned to begin soon, is there a plan of action to halt and postpone any of this work?

The query is being made to help ensure that Dufferin County is perceived as approaching the discussions with the Haudenosaunee Confederacy in good faith. One grows concerned that the opportunities to do so are becoming increasingly limited, especially after seeing that the Grand Valley council asked staff to explore whether it is possible to use a ministerial zoning order to expedite the building of a subdivision.

Several members of the county council who have investigated the moratorium are aware of the faulty mapping of the Haldimand Tract. East Garafraxa Councillor Tom Nevills mentioned that there was difficulty determining whether the tract includes Marsville. The consequences of unclear mapping are even more evident with Shelburne, which may have led to the Haudenosaunee being excluded from the

town's land acknowledgement and maybe even planning application circulations. Left unchecked, poor mapping can increase the number of municipalities continuing to allow land development that should fall under the Haudenosaunee's moratorium.

It may be convenient to shrug some of this off, allowing one to continue with the status quo, but these issues compound like interest. Some councillors belong to municipalities that may be able to sympathize as they too have fallen victim to lousy mapping. It can result in a mysterious unowned lot that no one seems to know what to do with, such as what looks to have happened in Melancthon. Another example is unfarmable land throughout the county being declared prime agriculture. The next mapping minefield seems to be natural heritage features. As council knows, correcting maps is not easy. That said, at the bare minimum, it is crucial to determine who owns what land and to be sure someone doesn't have a claim to property that the municipality is allowing someone else to build on. It would be unsurprising if it were discovered that not doing so could be deemed as negligent and failure to act.

Lastly, one county councillor has questioned, on multiple occasions, whether the Haudenosaunee are paying taxes on the Haldimand Tract land. An appropriate follow-up question to this is, 'Does any councillor think landowners should be expected to pay taxes to a municipality or follow its one-sided laws if council is allowing others to divide up, sell, and build upon the landowner's property without explicit and informed consent?'

More relevant and something that could be asked of all councillors, is if one would consider a council to be working in good faith towards a meaningful resolution on a matter such as the one described if building on the disputed land was allowed to continue in the meantime."

Warden White advised at this time Council is not able to provide a detailed answer, they did acknowledge that this will be a process. Council recognized that the mapping varies depending on the source. The mapping used by the Museum of Dufferin was provided by Six Nations.

PRESENTATION AND CONSIDERATIONS OF REPORTS

10. **Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Community Advisory Committee Minutes – May 12, 2021**

Minutes from the Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Community Advisory Committee meeting of May 12, 2021.

Moved by Councillor Brown, seconded by Councillor Ryan

THAT the minutes of the Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Community Advisory Committee meeting of May 12, 2021, be adopted.

-Carried-

11. **Infrastructure & Environment Services Minutes – May 27, 2021**

Moved by Councillor Macintosh, seconded by Councillor Creelman

THAT the minutes of the Infrastructure & Environment Services meeting held on May 27, 2021, and the recommendations set out be adopted.

-Carried-

12. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #1
Blue Box Transition – Delayed Regulation

THAT Report, Blue Box Transition – Delayed Regulation, from the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated Thursday, May 27, 2021, be received.

13. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #2
Blue Box Transition – Future Service Options for IC&I

THAT Report, Blue Box Transition - Future Service Options for IC&I, from the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated Thursday, May 27, 2021, be received;

AND THAT staff be directed to include options for IC&I recyclables collection in the RFX document.

14. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #3
Edelbrock Centre – Town of Orangeville Transit Station Update May 2021

THAT the report, Edelbrock Centre – Town of Orangeville Transit Hub Update May 2021, dated May 27, 2021, from the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, be received.

AND THAT Council direct staff to continue working with the Town of Orangeville towards a detailed design and construction of the proposed Town transit transfer terminal located at the County controlled Edelbrock Centre lands as described in this report.

15. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #4
Electric Vehicle Charging Network – Update May 2021

THAT Report, Electric Vehicle Charging Network – Update May 2021, dated May 27, 2021 from the Director of Public Works/County Engineer be received.

16. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #5
Former Rail Corridor – Trail Rehabilitation and Enhancement

THAT Report, Former Rail Corridor – Trail Rehabilitation and Enhancement, from the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated May 27, 2021, be received;

AND THAT, the surface rehabilitation project of the County owned former rail corridor multi-use trail be approved;

AND THAT the cost of the project estimated at \$800,000 be funded from the Wind Turbine Reserve (\$671,174) with balance from the Trails Capital account.

17. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #6
Town of Shelburne Developments – Work Within County Lands

THAT Report, Town of Shelburne Developments – Work Within County Lands, from the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated May 27, 2021, be received;

AND THAT Council authorize staff to proceed with the necessary agreements for both the Shelburne Towns Development (Scone) and the Shelburne 89 Development (Fieldgate) as described in this report to enable the noted developments to proceed;

AND THAT the Warden and Clerk be authorized to sign the agreements for both the Shelburne Towns Development (Scone) and the Shelburne 89 Development (Fieldgate) as described in this report once complete.

18. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #7
Strategic Action Plan May 2021 Progress Update – IES Objectives

THAT the report of the Chief Administrative Officer, regarding the Strategic Action Plan – IES Objectives, dated May 27, 2021, be received.

19. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #8
Round-About Request – County Road 109/County Road 3

THAT the correspondence from an Orangeville resident, dated May 14, 2021 regarding a request to put in a round-about at the intersection of County Roads 3 and 109, be received.

20. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #9
Town of Mono – Traffic Enforcement

THAT the correspondence from the Town of Mono, dated May 19, 2021, requesting the County of Dufferin's assistance in traffic enforcement on County roads, be received.

21. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #10
Ontario Recreation Facilities Association

THAT the correspondence from the Ontario Recreation Facilities Association, dated March 19, 2021 regarding recognizing facility professionals, be received.

22. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #11
Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO)

THAT the correspondence from the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing, dated May 18, 2021, regarding Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO) delegation requests for the 2021 Annual Conference, be received.

23. **General Government Services Minutes – May 27, 2021**

Moved by Councillor Brown, seconded by Councillor Gardhouse

THAT the minutes of the General Government Services meeting held on May 27, 2021, and the recommendations set out, excluding Item #1 be adopted.

-Carried-

24. GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #2
Safe Restart Funding

THAT the report of the Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer, dated May 27, 2021, regarding Safe Restart Funding, be received,

AND THAT that Council approve the use of Safe Restart Funds as outlined in the report.

25. GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #3
Next Generation 9-1-1

THAT the report of the Emergency Management Coordinator dated May 27, 2021, regarding Next Generation 9-1-1, be received;

AND THAT staff be directed to work with local municipalities to:

- document current addressing notification processes,
- develop a plan to formalize processes and procedures for Addressing Notifications based on process optimization and gap analysis;
- draft a Memorandum of Understanding between municipalities, emergency services and key stakeholders to ensure accurate GIS data is provided for NG 9-1-1;
- implement an annual test of 9-1-1 call routing from each county and municipal facility;

AND THAT staff provide a status update to Committee by no later than September 2021.

26. GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #4
Strategic Action Plan Progress Update May 2021 – GGS Objectives

THAT the report of the Chief Administrative Officer, regarding the Strategic Action Plan – GGS Objectives, dated May 27, 2021 be received.

27. GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #6
Dufferin Community Foundation

THAT the Correspondence from the Dufferin Community Foundation, dated April 14, 2021, including their first Report to the Community, be received.

28. **GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #1**
Headwaters Refugee Sponsorship Group

Moved by Councillor Creelman, seconded by Councillor Macintosh

THAT the funding request of \$1000 from Headwaters Refugee Sponsorship Group be referred back to the second round of Community Grants.

-Carried-

29. **Health and Human Services Minutes – May 27, 2021**

Moved by Councillor Macintosh, seconded by Councillor Gerrits

THAT the minutes of the Health and Human Services meeting held on May 27, 2021, and the recommendations set out be adopted.

-Carried-

30. HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #1
Front Entrance Canopy, Walkway & Garden Project – Dufferin Oaks

THAT the report of the Administrator dated May 27th, 2021 with regards to the Front Entrance canopy, walkway and garden replacement be received;

AND THAT staff be authorized to award RFT T2021 DO-21-02 to Avion Construction Group Inc;

AND THAT the additional costs be funded through the current Dufferin Oaks capital reserve fund.

31. HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #2
Housing Wait List Update

THAT the report of the Director, Community Services dated May 27, 2021, titled Community Housing Wait List, be received.

32. HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #3
Quarterly Community Services Activity Report – First Quarter 2021

THAT the report of the Director, Community Services, titled Quarterly Community Services Activity Report – First Quarter, 2021, dated May 27, 2021 be received.

33. HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #4
EarlyON Service Review Update #5

THAT the report of the Director, Community Services dated May 27, 2021, titled EarlyON Service review Update 5, be received;

AND THAT Council direct staff to review the EarlyON staffing skills compliment to best match service requirements for the new Work Plan;

AND THAT Council direct staff to transition permanently to the new service model, by June 25, 2021, reducing the EarlyON staffing compliment by eight (8);

AND THAT Human Resources Support be provided to staff impacted by the transition;

AND THAT Staff redirect the available budget allocations created by transition to the new service model to Child Care Fee Subsidy, i-CAN and General Operating Grants;

AND THAT any shortfall as a result of the transition, specifically to cover costs for severances packages come from in-year savings and the Children’s Services Reserve Fund (CSRF) to remain within the Council approved 2021 Budget.

34. HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #5
Strategic Action Plan – HHS Objectives

THAT the report of the Chief Administrative Officer regarding the Strategic Action Plan – HHS Objectives, dated May 27, 2021, be received.

35. **Community Development and Tourism Minutes – May 27, 2021**

Moved by Councillor Ryan, seconded by Councillor Gerrits

THAT the minutes of the Community Development and Tourism meeting held on May 27, 2021, and the recommendations set out be adopted.

-Carried-

36. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #2
Covid Recovery Update

THAT Report, Covid Recovery Update, from the Manager of Economic Development, dated May 27, 2021, be received.

37. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #3
Meat Processing Phase One Final Report

THAT Report, Meat Processing Phase One Final Report- May 2021, from the Manager of Economic Development, dated May 27, 2021, be received.

38. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #4
Strategic Action Plan Progress Update May 2021 – CDT Objectives

THAT the report of the Chief Administrative Officer, regarding the Strategic Action Plan – CDT Objectives, dated May 27, 2021, be received.

39. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #5
SWIFT Monthly Project Update

THAT the Correspondence from Southwestern Integrated Fibre Technology regarding the April 2021 SWIFT monthly project update, dated May 18, 2021 be received.

40. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #6
Notice of Passing, Town of Grand Valley

THAT the Correspondence from the Town of Grand Valley regarding the passing of a municipal-wide development charges by-law, dated May 12, 2021 be received.

41. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #7
Renaming Industrial Drive, Grand Valley

THAT the Correspondence from the Town of Grand Valley regarding the renaming of Industrial Drive to Watson Road, dated May 12, 2021 be received.

42. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #8
Cayuga Snipe Chief

THAT the correspondence from the Cayuga Snipe Chief dated May 12, 2021 regarding the Haudensosaunee Confederacy Chiefs Council declaring a moratorium on development along the Haldimand Tract, be received

AND THAT Staff be directed to request an opportunity to meet with the Six Nations "Iroquois" Confederacy to discuss the Moratorium on Development in the Haldimand Tract.

43. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – May 27, 2021 – ITEM #9
Gravel Watch Ontario

THAT the correspondence from Gravel Watch Ontario providing feedback on the Consultation on Growing the Size of the Greenbelt, dated May 18, 2021 be received;

AND THAT Staff be directed to draft a letter to the Province based on the discussion at Committee and bring forward to Council for consideration.

44. **Chief Administrative Officer's Report – Monthly Update from Outside Boards**

A report from the Chief Administrative Officer, dated June 10, 2021, to provide Council with an update of activities from outside boards and agencies.

Moved by Councillor Ryan, seconded by Councillor Gerrits

THAT the report of the Chief Administrative Officer, dated June 10, 2021 with respect to Reports from Outside Boards, be received.

-Carried-

45. **CORRESPONDENCE**

NOTICE OF MOTIONS

46. **Moved by Councillor Horner**

WHEREAS the Dufferin County Forest By-law (2017-39) allows that hunting may occur from October 1 to May 1 in the following tracts: south portion of Amaranth,, Gara Gore, Main, Melanchthon, Randwick, Riverview and Simmons;

AND WHEREAS there is no hunting allowed in the following Dufferin Forest tracts: North portion of Amaranth, Hockley, Leeming, Levitt, Little, Mono, Thompson and River Road;

AND WHEREAS there were 99 permits issued for hunting in the tracts of the Dufferin Forest in 2020-21;

AND WHEREAS year round usage of the Main Tract for hiking, cycling and horseback riding has been steadily increasing since 2017 and particularly in the COVID-19 pandemic;

AND WHEREAS traffic counters in the parking lot of the Main Tract are recording approximately 75 cars per day from May-September and approximately 38 cars per day in the months of October to April with hiking and cycling being the dominant use;

THEREFORE be it resolved that The Main Tract of the Dufferin Forest be removed from area in the bylaw that allows hunting and placed on the no hunting list.

MOTIONS

47. **Moved by Councillor Creelman, seconded by Councillor Macintosh**

THAT Council suspend the requirement in Section 15.7 of the Procedural By-law.

-Carried Unanimously-

48. Moved by Warden White, seconded by Councillor Ryan

WHEREAS a responsible Canada includes indigenous peoples from all across the nation, and whereas Canada's indigenous peoples are entitled to the same rights and freedoms as guaranteed all under the charter of rights and freedoms;

AND WHEREAS "genocide" is defined as "the deliberate harm or killing of a large number of people from a particular nation or ethnic group with the aim of destroying that nation or group";

AND WHEREAS residential schools existed for more than a century in Canada, the aim of which was to assimilate indigenous peoples into society and to destroy their indigenous identity;

AND WHEREAS the residential school system perpetrated a genocide on indigenous children the fullness of which is only now becoming evident;

AND WHEREAS the government of Canada and many of its churches were complicit in this national tragedy both by their actions and by their silence;

AND WHEREAS many churches excepting the Roman Catholic Church have already apologized for their role in the residential schools system;

NOW THEREFORE be it resolved that the County of Dufferin demand that the Government of Canada in conjunction with Canada's indigenous people determine a plan to investigate all residential school sites as needed to find any of the lost or missing children;

AND THAT in the spirit of reconciliation the Roman Catholic Church be petitioned and/or legally compelled to provide the truth about actions taken as part of the residential school system.

AND THAT the Government of Canada demand in the strongest possible terms the release of all church documents in Canada and at the Vatican that pertain to actions taken at residential schools in Canada, and that Pope Francis, leader of the Roman Catholic Church offer an apology to the indigenous peoples of Canada for their actions

AND FURTHER THAT the Government of Canada take all necessary steps to provide for equitable access for Canada's indigenous peoples to clean water, safe housing, health care, education and safety and security.

AND THAT this resolution be forwarded to the following:

- **Office of the Prime Minister of Canada, Rt Hon. Justin Trudeau**
- **Office of Cardinal Thomas Christopher Collins, Archdiocese of Toronto**
- **Dufferin Caledon MP Kyle Seeback**
- **Dufferin Caledon MPP Sylvia Jones**
- **All Dufferin County municipalities**

-Carried-

49. **Moved by Councillor Creelman, seconded by Councillor Ryan**

THAT Dufferin County's fine for parking in a 'no parking' zone be increased to \$90 and that approval for this be sought from the Regional Senior Justice.

-Carried-

50. **BY-LAWS**

2021-24 A by-law to amend by-law 2005-32, to regulate traffic on roads under the jurisdiction of the County of Dufferin. (Enforcement)
Authorization: Council – June 10, 2021

Moved by Councillor Ryan, seconded by Councillor Creelman

THAT By-law 2021-24, be read a first, second and third time and enacted.

-Carried-

51. **OTHER BUSINESS**

Councillor Gardhouse would like the Warden's statement at the beginning of the meeting to be sent out to the local media. He advised this is not a time to be silent regarding all forms of discrimination and inequity. Staff were directed to issue a press release.

Warden White took a moment to recognize the passing of former councillor Elizabeth Taylor from Grand Valley and her contributions to the Dufferin County community.

52. **CLOSED SESSION**

53. **CONFIRMATORY BY-LAW**

2021-25 A by-law to confirm the proceedings of the Council of the Corporation of the County of Dufferin at its meeting held on June 10, 2021.

Moved by Councillor Creelman, seconded by Councillor Horner

THAT By-Law 2021-25, be read a first, second and third time and enacted.

-Carried-

54. **ADJOURNMENT**

Moved by Councillor Gardhouse, seconded by Councillor Macintosh

THAT the meeting adjourn.

-Carried-

The meeting adjourned at 3:26 p.m.

Next meeting: Thursday, July 8, 2021 at 2:00 p.m.
Video Conference

Darren White, Warden

Michelle Dunne, Clerk